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Since 1955, 
Namco Limited has 

been engaged in the 

amusement business as 

a leader in its field. With 

the belief that the 21st 

century will be an "Era of 

Spirituality," we are 

focusing on what we call 

"High-Touch Digital 

Entertainment." This 

concept involves the 

creation of services that 

fuse digital media with a 

spirit of adventure, and 

high-tech with a human 

touch. In this pursuit, 

we aim to expand as 

entertainment innovators 

in a world where　

amusement knows no 

borders.
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Established Namco 
Holding Corp. in the U.S.

19971995

A Decade of Progr 

74,212
Net Sales (Millions of yen)

87,642

139,808

Announced Tekken for 
Sony’s PlayStation.

94,475

Introduced Ridge Racer for 
Sony’s PlayStation.

Released Ridge Racer, a 
driving simulation  coin-
operated game using 
System 22, a real-time, 
three-dimensional 
computer graphics system 
board.

Opened Namco 
NamjaTown, a theme park 
of dreams and nostalgia, 
in Tokyo.

110,188

1996

From 1993 to the

present: History of the

Namco Group

The two wheels that drive

the Namco Group are its

expertise in facility opera-

tions and its formidable ca-

pabilities in product

development.

Since establishing its

dominant position as a facil-

ity operator in 1993, the

Namco Group has been one

of only a few groups en-

gaged in worldwide facility

operations. The Namco

Group’s spirit of hospitality

is offered to its customers

at every one of its facilities.

An important aspect of our

facility operations is that

we can receive direct reac-

tions from customers.

In addition, the Group

has led the market by

continuously offering soft-

ware that uses its cutting-

edge developmental

capabilities to fully exploit

the potentials of various

hardware products that

have been launched. Espe-

cially with the launch of the

Sony PlayStation in 1994,

the home videogame soft-

ware business has entered a

new era. It has developed

into one of the pillars that

support the Namco Group.

Our capabilities for develop-

ment have also been demon-

strated in the coin-operated

game machine market, as

we have established new

genres through products

such as sensory videogame

machines.
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Opened communication 
park Shima-Shima Town in 
Kawasaki, in conjunction 
with Benesse Corporation.

Released Mr. Driller for 
three different home 
consoles.

Created Namco Station for 
NTT DoCoMo’s i-mode 
service; expanded and 
improved contents.

Increased investment in 
Nikkatsu Corporation by 
¥3 billion, making it a 
wholly owned subsidiary.

Release of Sony’s 
PlayStation 2 and Namco’s 
corresponding software, 
Ridge Racer V.

 ess and Beyond ...
145,761 145,517 148,066 146,554

152,136

20001999

© Benesse Corporation

SIX-YEAR SUMMARY
NAMCO LIMITED and subsidiaries
Years ended 31st March

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2002

For the year:

Net sales ¥139,808 ¥145,761 ¥145,517 ¥148,066 ¥146,554 ¥152,136 $1,250,604
Operating income (loss) 14,902 11,772 8,271 6,720 (2,866) 6,133 50,415
Income (loss) before income taxes 15,824 9,337 7,914 12,671 (9,196) 2,952 24,266
Net income (loss) 7,787 4,164 3,566 6,288 (6,000) 2,035 16,728

Per share of common stock:
 (in yen and U.S. dollars):
Net income (loss)—Primary 163.94 78.60 65.82 115.00 (109.09) 36.95 0.30
Cash dividends applicable to the year 30.00 30.00 30.00 30.00 15.00 17.00 0.14

At year-end:
Shareholders’ equity 76,110 84,355 89,566 99,774 91,646 96,133 790,242
Total assets 141,492 142,992 144,120 168,567 138,962 144,140 1,184,875

Number of shares outstanding:
(thousands): 51,544 53,625 54,828 55,068 55,087 55,087

Note: U.S. dollar amounts have been translated, for convenience only, at the exchange rate of ¥121.65=U.S.$1.
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To Our Shareholders
It is more than a half-century since Namco
started its original business. We have since
achieved a wide variety of objectives, and
now management is passing to the next
generation for new objectives. I, Namco’s
founder, have become chairman of the Board
of Directors, and the presidency has been
assigned to Kyushiro Takagi, whose mes-
sage is presented on pages 4–5. Here, I will
summarize the results of fiscal year 2002,
ended March 31, 2002.

During the term under review, the Japa-
nese economy was unable to stage a mean-
ingful recovery, despite rising public
expectations of the new Koizumi govern-
ment and its reformist pledges. The Septem-
ber 11 terrorist attacks on the United
States that took place in the middle of the
term exacerbated global concerns about so-
ciety and the economy and discouraged con-
sumer spending.

The amusement industry experienced a
growing trend toward cooperation among
major companies and fiercer competition in
response to the shrinkage of the amuse-
ment market, as well as soaring develop-
ment costs for higher performance and
graphic resolution of home and portable
game machines and new game consoles.

In this environment, the Company insti-
tuted organizational change on April 1,
2001, as the first phase of structural

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
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reform, along with other actions designed to
restore profitability. Intending to remove the
causes of our losses in the previous term
and to enable a quick response to the rap-
idly changing circumstances, these changes
had three major features: (1) streamlining of
the organization for higher efficiency, (2)
restructuring of existing business sectors to
match the market, and (3) active input of
management resources into creating new
businesses for expansion. As a result of in-
dependent efforts to improve business effi-
ciency in every unit, we succeeded in
overcoming the crisis in the previous term
and in raising sales and ordinary profit to a
level beyond the target in the revised me-
dium-term plan. In addition, we launched the
second structural reform for establishment
of medium- and long-term growth strategies
in October 2001. We have also created a
strategy report, which is used as a guideline
for our operations.

In the Amusement Facility Operations
segment, we are reducing management
costs and closing unprofitable facilities in
Japan as part of a sustained effort to return
to a profitable basis and improve operational
efficiency. We are also launching new ar-
cades and strengthening operational capa-
bilities to improve the gross margin and
establish an independent shop system. The
business environment is also difficult in the
North American market. We have aggres-
sively closed unprofitable arcades and devel-
oped innovative arcades. We have also
bolstered our system at Head Office for
management guidance and support. In the
European market, we acquired a large-scale
amusement complex in the United Kingdom
in March 2001, while we shut down loss-
making facilities in France and Germany. Our
facility management has therefore placed a
clear priority on profitability.

In the course of industrial realignment, I
announced the so-called owners’ alliance for
reciprocal ownership of stocks with the
founders of Square Co., Ltd. and Enix Corpo-
ration in April 2001, forming a loose part-
nership among the three companies. We

also announced a comprehensive partner-
ship with Sega Corporation in the amuse-
ment business. Based on this coalition, we
will further promote cost restructuring in
areas common to both companies as well as
the pursuit of new business opportunities
centered on the on-line game business with
a view to developing a new entertainment
industry through collaboration and competi-
tion.

Consequently, compared with the previ-
ous term on a consolidated basis, net sales
rose 3.8%, or ¥146,554 million, to
¥152,136 million, operating income of
¥6,133 million was recorded compared with
a operating loss of ¥2,866 million, and net
income of ¥2,035 million was posted com-
pared with a net loss of ¥6,000 million.

Basic Policy for Corporate
Management
Namco has set the creation of its original
“High-Touch Digital Entertainment” as its
basic policy, which combines digital media
with the Company’s belief that the 21st
century is an “Era of Spirituality,” in its ini-
tiative to establish new entertainment ser-
vices.

The information technology (IT) revolu-
tion is changing not only the economy and
the industry, but also our lifestyles, our cul-
tures and what is most related to human
nature such as intellect, feelings and will-
power. The times require new ways, places
and tools of enjoyment. Convinced that the
ultimate goal of human beings is the enjoy-
ment of a truly human analog life, we will
continue to strive to create High-Touch Digi-
tal Entertainment.

We will increase the independence of our
business entities and effectively mobilize
our managerial resources to continuously
improve return on equity (ROE).

Basic Policy for Corporate
Profit Sharing
Returning profit to shareholders is one of
Namco’s key management policies. We will
aggressively invest in facilities and R&D

Net Sales
(Billions of yen)

98 99 00 01 02 98 99 00 01 02 98 99 00 01 02

Net Income (Loss)
(Billions of yen)

148.1 146.6 152.1
145.5145.8

(6.0)

2.0

6.3

3.6
4.2

(109.1)

37.0

115.0

65.8
78.6

Net Income (Loss) per Share
(Yen)
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activities to keep pace with rapid technical
innovation in the amusement industry for
the development of new products and tech-
nologies and for further reinforcement of our
corporate competitiveness, and will be set-
ting a dividend payout rate of 30% in accor-
dance with our basic principle of allotting
the results of operating performance. In the
previous term, we recorded a substantial
deficit and paid a dividend of only ¥15. In
the term under review, we achieved a favor-
able balance with our first round of struc-
tural reforms. With a determination to
further improve our business results with
the second round of structural reforms, we
added a special dividend of ¥2 to the regu-
lar dividend of ¥15, to pay a dividend of ¥17
per stock. Consequently, the dividend pay-
out is 47.5%, ROE is 2.3% and the net worth
ratio is 1.1% for the term under review.

Our Challenges
In October 2001, we effectively mobilized
our managerial resources to launch the sec-
ond round of structural reforms, with the
aim of building an ambitious management
system to survive a dramatically changing
market. In February 2002, we formulated a
report entitled “Namco Growth Strategic
Initiative.” An organizational change
in May this year was designed to put
the scenario contained in the report into
practice.

Medium- to Long-Term Corporate
Management Strategies
The “Namco Growth Strategic Initiative” de-
fined five challenges to be met through the
removal of obstacles to growth in the three
major segments of Home Videogame Soft-
ware, Coin-Operated Game Machines and
Amusement Facility Operations, and through
revisions to enable input of managerial re-
sources to promising businesses. The five
challenges are: (1) exhaustive reinforce-
ment of the content business, (2) emphasis
on Web and mobile communications, (3) full-
fledged entry into the pachinko and
pachislot machine market, (4) improvement
in the profitability of Amusement Facility
Operations, (5) a buildup of sales capabili-
ties in Coin-Operated Game Machines, as
well as the enhancement of the efficiency of
Head Office functions. Accordingly, organiza-
tional changes were made to achieve these
goals.

(1) Exhaustive reinforcement of content
business
We set up a Contents & Technology (CT)
Company for the development of businesses
from conventional arcade and console game
software production to general content
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production. With our existing development
and sales capabilities concentrated on the
in-house company, we established a mul-
tiple-content business to expand operating
profit and market share. This covers such
inter-business entertainment areas as multi-
genre games, toys, videos, music and publi-
cations for a wide array of users and
overseas markets.

To increase our organizational mobility,
we replaced the conventional hierarchical
structure with a Producer System. Produc-
ers for separate product titles act as lead-
ers that make consistent management and
control of the respective projects from prod-
uct planning to sales and are responsible for
profitability.

(2) Emphasis on Web and mobile
communications
We launched a Web, Mobile & Contents
(WMC) Company to undertake planning, re-
search and development, production and op-
eration of content distribution services for
mobile phones, PCs, personal digital assis-
tants (PDAs) and networks using the
Internet, to develop it into a core business
comparable to the content business.

(3) Full-fledged entry into the pachinko and
pachislot market
We set up a P-7 Company to promote the
pachinko-related business and evolve it into
another core business to parallel the con-
tent business. The pachinko-related busi-
ness covers the planning and development
of visual software and hardware for
pachinko or pachislot machines as well as
the planning and sales of related products.

(4) Improvement in profitability of
Amusement Facility Operations
We established a new Entertainment (ET)
Company. This company boasts a strong
profit-making structure as an independent
business entity with improved profitability in
existing amusement facilities, the closure of
unsuccessful facilities and the revision of
facility operations for personnel cost reduc-
tion. It also undertakes the planning and
operation of brand-new amusement facilities
to develop new markets and customers.

(5) Buildup of capabilities in sales of Coin-
Operated Game Machines
We created an Amusement (AM) Company.
With the functions of development, sales,
production and distribution concentrated on
this in-house enterprise for the revitalization
and growth of the Coin-Operated Game Ma-
chines segment, we aim to meet the needs
of a broad array of users as well as of over-
seas markets to expand market share and

operating profits. We are also revising the
product genres and removing the high-cost
structure with the reduction of production
costs and indirect workers, as well as ex-
panding sales with the introduction of a
careful sales approach to enhance profitabil-
ity.

To increase our organizational mobility,
we abolished the conventional hierarchical
structure and introduced a Producer Sys-
tem. Producers for separate product titles
act as leaders that enable consistent man-
agement and control of projects from prod-
uct planning to sales. The producers are
also responsible for profitability.

(6) Enhancement in the efficiency of Head
Office functions
The Corporate Office performs all Head Of-
fice functions. Its primary mission is to pro-
vide support for the streamlining of business
operations across the Company to help
boost Companywide profits.

(7) Improvement of Namco and its affiliated
companies
We are substantially reinforcing the mana-
gerial strategy headquarters and expand its
functions to become a broad management
aid in decision-making and operations at the
Group level to assist our president. To facili-
tate the transition to our new system and to
make the most effective use of our manage-
rial resources, the headquarters now has six
specialized groups (for managerial strate-
gies, financial strategies, personnel strate-
gies, affiliated company management,
information strategies and intellectual as-
sets) as subordinate organizations, so it is
involved in the core strategies of Group
management.

(8) New businesses
We are operating a new Incubation Center
to cultivate and develop new businesses
that will be medium- or long-term pillar busi-
nesses, and to establish new business mod-
els. The Center is positioned as an
organization that will evolve into our sixth
or seventh in-house company in the future.
We will also use the Center to assess the
future prospects of businesses to execute
their reorganization and liquidation.

Masaya Nakamura
Chairman
October 2002
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MESSAGE FROM THE NEW PRESIDENT

On May 1, 2002, I was privileged to assume
the role of president and chief executive of-
ficer of Namco Limited—a position held for
almost 50 years by Mr. Masaya Nakamura,
our Company’s founder. It is my great hope
to fill this formidable role with the distinc-
tion demonstrated by Mr. Nakamura, who
continues as Namco’s chairman.

Launch of the Second Structural
Reform
As reported in Namco’s Annual Report
2001, the Namco Group recorded substan-
tial losses during fiscal 2001, for which I
would like to apologize to all shareholders,
employees, customers and other parties.
After the peak of fiscal 1997, Namco’s fi-
nancial condition had been gradually dete-
riorating until the losses were ultimately
posted. As a response, management has re-
solved to carry out drastic reforms as its
highest priority.

In November 2000, our policy develop-
ment project was launched, and the Namco
Revival Plan was designed as the first phase
of the Company’s structural reform for dras-
tic changes. This phase targets “defensive
reform,” and focuses on recovering the
Company’s basic strength as a business.

Toward achieving this objective, in April
2001 the Company’s 13 divisions were con-
solidated into five divisions, each of which
formulated policies to facilitate a return to
profitability. Unfortunately, we were obliged
to encourage voluntary retirement, and we
implemented a range of measures to
achieve our numerical targets. As the ef-
fects of these measures can be observed in
the results for the fiscal year under review,
it leads me to believe we are on the right
track.

We launched the second structural re-
form in May 2002. While the first structural
reform was our defensive strategy, the sec-
ond reform can be referred to as our “ag-
gressive strategy,” and projects medium-
and long-term business growth.

To address this reform, we started by
objectively identifying the Company’s prob-
lems, and found the following three.

First, we discovered that the only no-
table business contributing to corporate
value was our Home Videogame Software
segment. Secondly, we found we were no
longer considered a leading company in
three of our core businesses, including our
mainstay Home Videogame Software seg-
ment. Thirdly, Namco has the following per-
sonnel and organizational problems: (1) the
areas of responsibility for our businesses
are not clearly identified from functional and
moral aspects, (2) performance manage-
ment does not work, (3) the decision-mak-
ing process does not facilitate quick,
optimal decisions, and (4) staff members
are neither effectively used nor motivated.

Review of Resource Allotment
Based on the above assessment, we re-
viewed our business portfolio and resource
allocation. Namco’s guidelines for future re-
source allocation and growth strategies are
illustrated in the diagram on page 5.

First, the most notable point is the strong
emphasis on our game content business. We
set up the Contents & Technology (CT) Com-
pany to establish a multiple-content busi-
ness, putting the synergy of entertainment
in multiple game genres into perspective.
Behind this are two themes: (1) strengthen-
ing the game software business, and (2) en-
tering new spheres of business to prepare
for the maturity of the game software mar-
ket.

Regarding the first theme—strengthen-
ing the game software business—we thor-
oughly reviewed our marketing activities.
What we found was that Namco had over-
looked some important market areas. For
example, in its user and hardware strate-
gies, Namco had failed to target the lower-
age segment, which is a large, important
part of the market. It is essential to in-
crease our share of this segment in the fu-
ture. To achieve this goal, we need to take
a comprehensive approach in the develop-
ment of such strategies as strengthening
our media mix.

For our geographical strategies, some
important considerations are that growth in
the Japanese market is expected to remain
minimal in the future, whereas large growth
can be expected in the North American mar-
ket. In addition, the European market is also
expected to grow, although not by as much
as the North American market. Conse-
quently, we will continue striving to develop
game software targeting these regions. To
this end, we will strengthen the structure of

Namco Hometek Inc., which is a subsidiary
for the development and sales of home
videogame software in North America. In
addition, with respect to our product genre
strategies, we will place high priority on
role-playing games (RPGs) as an estab-
lished, popular genre, which used to be a
weak area for Namco, and strive to make
our products the standard in the market.

We project that sales in the Home
Videogame Software segment will peak in
fiscal 2005, with the current three game
platforms playing a central role. Accord-
ingly, we will make optimal use of Namco’s
market presence.

Regarding the second theme—to prepare
for the expected decline after the maturity
of the game software market—we aim to
commence content development for the
markets where future growth can be ex-
pected. These markets include network en-
tertainment, computer graphic (CG)
animation and high-tech toys.

Next, with the emphasis on Web and mo-
bile communications, we set up the Web,
Mobile & Contents (WMC) Company with
the intention of developing it into our core
business in the future. As IT progresses,
Namco must expand its services for provid-
ing content to carriers in the new online
fields instead of those offline, and in broad-
band instead of narrowband, as these are
currently the major services in this busi-
ness. In addition, we have to work harder to
develop this business while taking a com-
prehensive view of the position where the
three game platforms—the current leaders
of the home videogame market—will be po-
sitioned as information terminals after 2005
and as online terminals.

To make a full-scale entry into the
pachinko and pachislot machine markets,
we set up the P-7 Company and aim to de-
velop it into another of our core businesses.
This market is on a global scale of ¥1 tril-
lion, and it represents a huge market with
ongoing product diversification. As such, it
is attractive for such content providers as
Namco. By adopting the strategies of multi-
plex collection through the multiple use of
content that the Namco Group currently
holds or will develop in the future, we aim to
promote this business comprehensively to
include software and hardware and related
products.

Namco expects that all of the above ini-
tiatives will substantially contribute to prof-
itability as its businesses can be developed
using the Company’s content. While profit
will be made where possible, more capital
will be invested in continual content devel-
opment. We regard this investment as nor-
mal capital circulation.
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the development and sales of welfare equip-
ment and the production of the facilities;
and the education business. In the future,
the Incubation Center is also expected to
develop various businesses centered on net-
works.

We have set up the Corporate Office to
facilitate enhancing the efficiency of Com-
pany-wide business management. The Cor-
porate Strategic Planning Office was formed
to coordinate the entire Group and to de-
velop medium-term management plans and
management strategies. The Corporate Of-
fice will work toward integration by improv-
ing efficiency, and Namco will reinforce the
Corporate Strategic Planning Office.

While each of the Namco companies
work intensively together, we will strive to
achieve synergy throughout all of Namco
and maximize profit.

Introduction of the Company System
Namco introduced the Company System to
formulate strategies for each business, with
the following objectives: (1) to create an
environment where the valuable opinions of
younger employees can be incorporated by
providing a flat organizational structure, (2)
to integrate systems and sales, and (3) to
clarify autonomous responsibility for gener-
ating profits by operating each division.

Another important part of Namco’s orga-
nizational change is the introduction of the
Producer System for the CT Company and
AM Company. Under this system, a producer
is assigned to each project and assigns
staff to the tasks of planning, development,
sales and sales promotion within the project

team. The producer is responsible for all pro-
cesses from beginning to end and has a high
level of authority and line management. The
producer and the team are assessed by their
results compared with such targets as
worldwide profits. This initiative makes it
possible to create more interesting products
that meet the needs of the market more
speedily and at lower cost.

Targeting Positive Results for
Fiscal 2005
Namco’s new medium-term plan has been
developed based on the above initiatives, as
illustrated in the diagram. We believe it to
be a solid plan with achievable objectives.
With the focus on the optimization of share-
holder value as one of our management poli-
cies, we will set a target of ROE of 15%,
and will implement our management initia-
tives with confidence.

Namco will review the essential aspects
of entertainment to meet shareholders’ ex-
pectations, and we will continue to progress
with our growth strategy to create a brilliant
future.

We thank our shareholders and ask for their
continued understanding and support.

Kyushiro Takagi
President and Chief Executive Officer
October 2002

Management strategies to improve prof-
itability and develop a profit-generating
structure are being undertaken for Amuse-
ment Facility Operations and sales of Coin-
Operated Game Machines. To facilitate
these strategies, we set up the Entertain-
ment (ET) Company and the Amusement
(AM) Company. Although these areas are
major businesses for the Namco Group, the
market is not expected to grow in the future
and we anticipate severe conditions. Ac-
cordingly, instead of actively investing man-
agement resources, we will continue these
businesses by developing a profit-generating
structure and by improving profitability.

We will also address the reform of these
major businesses without sparing any part
of the companies. In particular, we will set a
profit index as a criterion for evaluation. We
will clarify the details in this area and report
the details within the Company. If our target
is not achieved, we will either direct more
effort to develop the profit-generating struc-
ture of the business or withdraw from the
business altogether, depending on the pre-
vailing conditions. Further, we will take a
bolder, more comprehensive approach with
these two businesses in line with the above
guidelines.

In addition, we have established the In-
cubation Center to cultivate and develop
new businesses. As this center has helped
to develop the pachinko- and slot-machine-
related businesses and mobile phone con-
tent delivery business, we will explore and
develop new businesses to develop them
into new pillars of growth. Currently, these
include welfare-related businesses, involving

Millions of yen

02/3 03/3 04/3 05/3
Consolidated Income and Loss Plan Term Actual Term Prospect Term Planned Term Planned

Net sales ¥152,136 ¥158,800 ¥175,000 ¥216,400

Operating profit 6,133 8,100 14,500 25,300

Ordinary income 4,664 7,700 13,500 24,200

Net income 2,035 4,400 8,000 14,500

Plan by Consolidated Segment

[Net Sales]

Coin-Operated Game Machines ¥  18,291 ¥  18,100 ¥  20,300 ¥  24,100

Home Videogame Software 35,520 41,800 46,000 73,200

Amusement Facility Operations 77,181 73,900 73,900 76,600

Restaurant Operations 4,229 5,700 10,400 12,800

Movies and Graphics 9,903 11,600 12,600 14,900

Other 7,012 7,700 11,800 14,800

Total ¥152,136 ¥158,800 ¥175,000 ¥216,400

[Operating Income]

Coin-Operated Game Machines ¥    1,494 ¥    1,000 ¥    2,100 ¥    3,500

Home Videogame Software 7,750 8,800 9,200 15,600

Amusement Facility Operations 2,087 3,300 6,600 7,800

Restaurant Operations (65) 100 800 1,300

Movies and Graphics (150) 0 200 500

Other (1,373) (200) 700 1,600

Corporate Items or Deletions (3,608) (4,900) (5,100) (5,000)

Total ¥    6,133 ¥    8,100 ¥  14,500 ¥  25,300
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Namco’s Strategi  

Among the businesses undertaken by Namco, Home Videogame Software features the

highest profit rate and the greatest potential for growth. There is considerable market

interest in this business, and shareholders have high expectations for its future. In

response to the suggestion that most of Namco’s resources should be concentrated into

this business, we shall implement aggressive strategies to further expand its profits as

part of the Company’s structural reform.

1.
What are the future strategies and plans

for the Home Videogame

Software segment?

INTERVIEW WITH THE MANAGEMENT

6

Namco has formulated two specific medium-term targets. These are: (1) to attain

operating income for the CT Company of ¥15 billion, and (2) to sell 20 million units of

our home videogame titles worldwide—both of which we want to achieve by fiscal 2005.

Given the harsh operating environment at Namco and overall trends in the home

videogame market, the above may be considered ambitious. However, management

believes these targets to be attainable if the Company focuses on addressing market

segments it has missed, and on bolstering its operating efficiency.
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es for the Future

Following are Namco’s strategies for achieving the above targets.

First is our regional strategy. While the Japanese market is likely to expand only

slightly or remain stagnant, the markets in Europe and the United States are far more

active and offer more abundant possibilities. This is true especially of the North Ameri-

can market. It is necessary to launch high-quality products in areas that match the

cultures of those markets. For this purpose, the capabilities of Namco Hometek Inc.—

our product development and sales subsidiary in North America—need to be improved,

especially when it comes to product development.

Second is our user strategy. We shall intensify our efforts to focus on lower-age

users, a market segment Namco has thus far missed but that has great potential. As a

related platform strategy, we shall provide more game titles for Nintendo’s GameCube,

which is very popular among lower-age groups.

Third is our genre strategy. There are popular genres in the home videogame market

that are not yet Namco’s strengths, and we need to work on developing them. Specific

examples include role-playing games (RPGs), action and simulation games. Making

Namco’s games the de facto standard is necessary for all genres, and we hope to gain

users for standard titles. RPG and simulation games warrant special attention, because

they are suitable as content for network videogames, and we shall concentrate our

efforts on delivering this software in the near future.

Moreover, Namco shall also focus efforts on its media mix to increase sales and

enhance the added value of its products. We shall attempt to create games that incorpo-

rate other companies’ popular characters, to use our existing high-profile characters for

7

purposes other than videogames, and to collaborate with companies in totally different

industries. Through these measures, Namco hopes to make users more familiar with the

games’ stories and characters through diverse media, thereby increasing demand for its

videogames.

Fourth is our distribution strategy. Namco will maintain its policy of using Sony

Computer Entertainment Inc.’s distribution network for Sony products, owing to such

significant advantages as information gathering, risks accompanying stocks and strong

support for sales promotion. With Nintendo products, distribution shall be consigned to

Nintendo Co., Ltd., and that company’s strong distribution network will be used to

maximize sales.

Namco is determined to attain its goals through the above strategies, and we hope

the outcome meets the expectations of our shareholders.

Our Amusement Facility Operations in North America are facing an extremely harsh

environment. During the fiscal year under review, same-facility sales declined 6.2%,

which mirrors a fundamental shift in the significance of shopping malls in people’s daily

lives in the United States. Until recently, consumers would spend their entire day at

shopping malls. In the current economic environment, however, people will not patronize

these centers without a specific purpose. This situation has triggered a polarization of

malls, characterized by those that attract large numbers of people and those unable to

draw visitors. Most of Namco’s amusement facilities are situated in shopping malls.

Accordingly, Namco’s unprofitable amusement facilities are those situated in centers

2.
Could you please describe Namco’s policies

in its North American Amusement

Facility Operations?
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experiencing a dwindling number of customers. Although this factor is largely beyond our

control, other problems we are encountering relate specifically to Namco. One of our

most serious issues has been an inadequate response in repairing malfunctioning coin-

operated game machines. A marked erosion in our maintenance capabilities occurred

during the period of the IT bubble in North America, when many of our top-notch facility

managers were recruited by other companies.

During the fiscal year under review, our North American amusement facility opera-

tions suffered a loss of approximately US$10 million. This consisted of an approximately

US$7 million decline in revenues that resulted from lower sales from unprofitable outlets

and a slowdown in the number of customers, particularly at tourist destinations, follow-

ing the September 11 terrorist attacks. The remaining US$3 million was attributable to

closing costs from the scrapping of unprofitable outlets.

In response to the above losses and to further support a structural rebuilding of

Namco, we scrapped a total of 44 facilities during the fiscal year under review. Further,

we plan to close 59 facilities in fiscal 2003, 51 in fiscal 2004, and 28 in fiscal 2005.

The Company operated 120 to 130 unprofitable facilities at the end of fiscal 2002, and

intends to complete the closure of all of them over the next three years. The first ques-

tion that naturally comes to mind is why the pace of closure is so slow. For reasons

involving lease periods, we decided that this rate of closure is optimal from the perspec-

tive of minimizing cash-outs. Closing of stores according to this schedule will allow us to

more effectively utilize our assets, including the allocation of assets to revenue-sharing

facilities, although this will result in expenses for closing stores.

Also, the parent company has dispatched a support team that is preparing manuals

for our Amusement Facility Operations, as well striving to raise the level of operations. As

a result, of our 28,000 coin-operated game machines in the United States, we have

reduced the number of those out of service due to malfunctions from 5,000 to 2,000

machines. Each machine generates average weekly sales of US$110, and reducing the

number of units out of service has allowed us to recover around US$17 million in sales.

Through the implementation of the preceding measures, we aim to reduce our losses

to US$4.5 million and we are currently well on our way to recovery. In fiscal 2005, we plan

to operate around 150 amusement centers and generate operating income of US$10

million.

The Coin-Operated Game Machines segment mainly includes sales in two areas: amuse-

ment facilities and pachinko systems. As previously mentioned, sluggishness in the

amusement facilities market has forced our structural reform effort to implement strate-

gies for strengthening competitiveness to improve the profitability of the business. On

the other hand, pachinko systems are among the core businesses that are set to experi-

ence higher sales and profits, as the pachinko market is expected to grow.

Therefore, our mid-term business plan assumes growth in sales with improved sales

in pachinko systems. Namco has developed software and substrates for the liquid crystal

parts of pachinko and pachislot machines, and has sold them to manufacturers. Sales

from the business totaled ¥2.5 billion in fiscal 2002 and are expected to be ¥2.1 billion

in fiscal 2003, ¥3.2 billion in fiscal 2004 and ¥5 billion in fiscal 2005. We will ramp up

development in line with these estimates, and having increased the number of titles by

three during fiscal 2002, we plan to release five titles during fiscal 2003, eight during

fiscal 2004 and 12 during fiscal 2005 (these figures include pachislot game machine

titles). Namco boasts a broad array of content developed for both home videogame

software and coin-operated game machines. This gives us an edge in that we can de-

velop software while maintaining high profit margins, because we can make effective

use of the content we have accumulated.

Meanwhile, we assume that sales from amusement facilities have reached a pla-

teau, as the market is unlikely to show any significant growth in the near future. We

3.
Why does your business plan assume

that profits from the sale of

Coin-Operated Game Machines

will grow significantly?

8
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4.
Could you explain future development

in Namco’s non-core Restaurant

Operations, Movies and Graphics

and Other segments?

9

plan to improve the profitability of this business through cost cutting. Specific measures

include: (1) using common parts and general-use cabinets (in a tie-up with Sega on

cabinet designs for mid-term use); (2) reducing idling during the development process

(introducing the Producer System and process managers); (3) capping technical re-

search costs (through faster decision-making, market-oriented product development and

the promotion of research activities linked to product commercialization); and (4)

reducing administrative personnel costs (by improving efficiency through consolidated

production and sales, concentration of office facilities, and other means).

In particular, we estimate that the use of common parts and general-use cabinets will

produce a cost savings of about 7.5% by fiscal 2005. We will therefore concentrate our

efforts on this area to improve overall profitability.

The principal aim of our recent restructuring is to maximize the Namco Group’s profits.

Accordingly, we plan to consolidate or eliminate businesses and subsidiaries that have

been hindering performance—with no exceptions. I would like to outline the specific

steps we will take in each business, beginning with our Restaurant Operations business,

which is the segment that includes Italian Tomato Ltd. Our involvement in restaurants

dates back to 1986, when we acquired the Italian Tomato Group. This acquisition was in

line with our ambition to become a comprehensive entertainment and culture-related

company, and we considered food an integral component of culture. Also, we determined

that food and beverages would play a key role in encouraging customers to spend longer

amounts of time at the amusement facilities that are part of our Amusement Facility

Operations. This was the rationale that prompted us to enter the Restaurant Operations

sector. At present, however, it has become evident that the Restaurant Operations

segment will not develop into a Namco core business. Nevertheless, Italian Tomato Café

Jr., a chain of self-service restaurants operated by I&K Co., Ltd., has competitive outlets

and is performing favorably. We intend to aggressively expand and cultivate this busi-

ness into a viable format capable of generating sufficient profits. We are planning to

make a public offering for the Italian Tomato Group in three years.

In our Movies and Graphics segment, Nikkatsu Corporation, which handles these

operations, engages in the production, delivery and promotion of movies, undertakes a

satellite broadcasting business, and sells packaged media. The Japanese movie industry

is not yet fully developed and production companies are unable to achieve sufficient

profits. Accordingly, it is essential that we secure certain income in other areas of this

business. Nikkatsu’s high-profit businesses are its satellite broadcasting business and

its packaged media businesses. At present, Nikkatsu has a collection of approximately

3,500 past intellectual properties alone. By utilizing this content in our satellite broad-

casting and package media, Nikkatsu can generate revenues at low cost. In sports

DVDs, Fantasista, which commands an overwhelming share in soccer DVDs, focused its

marketing on the World Cup, with particular emphasis on upgrading its soccer-related

lineup. The Movies and Graphics segment is also one of Namco’s important content

businesses and we expect that Nikkatsu will be able to generate synergies as a member

of the Namco Group. Animation is the most effective means of achieving fusion with

Namco’s three principal businesses and we will keep this point in mind as we develop

our operations in the future.

In our Other segment, our most unprofitable business is Musicplayground Inc.

(MPG), which handles our virtual instrument music delivery through the Internet. Al-

though Musicplayground posted a large loss during the fiscal year under review, it will

carry out joint sales promotions with record companies (including a trial version of the

MPG service in each new CD package), work to secure profitability, vigorously solicit

strategic partners and third-party investors, and stabilize its operations.

Be assured that we will also aggressively dissolve and integrate unprofitable busi-

ness and work to improve profitability.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net Sales
(Billions of yen)

Share of Net Sales

98 99 00 01 02

19.3 18.3
20.7

26.0

29.5

12.0%

Creating New
Coin-Operated Game Machines
The Namco Group made concerted efforts

for active sales of its brand-name products

to the coin-operated game machine mar-

kets worldwide.

With respect to the arcade machine

sales business, despite the downward

market trend we maintained strong sales

of the mastery game series Tatsujin and

launched the popular fighting game Tekken
4. Also, in collaboration with other compa-

nies, we launched Gun Survivor 2 Biohaz-
ard Code: Veronica, a sur vival horror

shooting game first co-developed with

Capcom Co., Ltd.; Wangan Midnight, a racing

Biohazard
©CAPCOM CO.,
LTD. ALL RIGHTS
RESERVED.
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O.R.B.S.

In the pachinko-related business, we cre-

ated the new software and substrates for

the liquid crystal par ts of pachinko CR Fe-
ver Pac-World SP for one of Sankyo

Corporation’s machines, featuring popular

videogame character Pac-Man. We also

continued to develop System7, a 3D-com-

patible board for pachinko and pachislot
machines, and supplied CR Battle Hero
Densetsu for Daiichi Shokai Co., Ltd. as

the company’s first application of the board.

In the human service related business,

we designed and produced an outpatient

rehabilitation room called Yosei no Mori
(Fairy Forest), which opened in July on the

premises of Minami-Otaru Hospital in the

city of Otaru in Hokkaido. This room is based

on the Namco Hustle Club Project, which

aims at creating a space for a joyful and

meaningful life in an aging society. In the

future, we will strive to launch three reha-

bilitation facilities each year to propose

an enriched senior life that combines en-

ter tainment and welfare.

Consolidated net sales for the segment

decreased 5.4% to ¥18,291 million com-

pared with the previous fiscal year. The

segment recorded operating income of

¥1,494 million.

battle game inspired by the popular car-

toon serialized in Weekly Young Magazine
(published by Kodansha); and Necchu! Pro-
fessional Baseball 2002, co-developed with

Fuji Television Network, Inc.

In addition, we independently developed

the O.R.B.S. (Over Reality Booster System)

next-generation, general-use arcade cabi-

net and announced a business partnership

with Sega and Nintendo Co., Ltd. for joint

development of the Triforce next-generation,

general-use 3D computer graphics board

for next-generation arcade machines, so as

to play a leading role in the future arcade

game machine market.

Enter tainment

Wangan
Midnight
©Michiharu
Kusunoki/
Kodansha Ltd.

A version of Wani
Wani Panic de-
signed for use by
disabled people
and the elderly

CR Fever Pac-
World SP
(Pachinko)
©Sankyo
Corporation
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Net Sales
(Billions of yen)

Share of Net Sales

98 99 00 01 02

30.2

35.5
32.6

39.4

33.8

23.3%

Delivering

(L) Time Crisis II (PlayStation 2)
(R) Xenosaga Episode I: Der Wille

zur Macht (PlayStation 2)

Home Videogame Software
Our console game software products, which

consist of those conver ted from popular

arcade games but also include original titles,

are directed mainly at those platforms with

the world’s largest market share, namely

Sony’s PlayStation (PS) and PlayStation 2

(PS2). We are responsible for the produc-

tion and sales of products for the Japa-

nese, Asian and European markets, while

Namco Hometek Inc. handles the products

for the U.S. market under our license.

During the term under review, we re-

leased Time Crisis: Project Titan, World
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(L) Pac-Man COLLECTION
(GAME BOY ADVANCE)

(R) TEKKEN ADVANCE (GAME
BOY ADVANCE)

(L) Tales of Fandom Vol.1
(PlayStation) ©Mutsumi
Inomata ©Kousuke Fujishima

(R) Galaga (mobile phone)

(L) TEKKEN 4 (PlayStation 2)
(R) ACECOMBAT04 shattered

skies (PlayStation 2)

New Experiences

(L) Smash Court PRO TOURNA-
MENT (PlayStation 2)

(R) MotoGP 2 (PlayStation 2)

Stadium 5 and Tales of Fandom Vol. 1 for

PS; Ace Combat 04 Shattered Skies, Vam-
pire Night, MotoGP 2, Xenosaga Episode
I: Der Wille zur Macht, Smash Court Ten-
nis Pro Tournament, Tekken 4 and Alpine
Racer 3 for PS2; and Klonoa: Empire of
Dreams, Namco Museum, Tekken Advance,
and Pac-Man Collection for Nintendo’s

Game Boy Advance.

As a strategic move for future develop-

ment, we announced our suppor t of

Microsoft’s Xbox next-generation game con-

sole. Moreover, we are considering partici-

pation in on-line gaming ser vices to be

launched by Microsoft in 2002. We also

announced a plan to release our power ful

titles, Soul Calibur and the Ridge Racer
series, simultaneously for three market-lead-

ing high-spec hardware platforms (PS2, Game

Cube and Xbox). We aim to be the top soft-

ware publisher in the next-generation con-

sole game market as well.

In the Web & Mobile Content business,

we commenced production and distribution

of enter tainment content for NTT DoCoMo

Inc.’s i-mode service, for the new “ezplus”

wireless Internet service of KDDI Corpora-

tion and the “au” group, as well as for

 J-Phone Co., Ltd. We are steadily estab-

lishing the Namco brand in the content dis-

tribution business for Internet-compatible

mobile phones, with the development of

games for Sony’s new “au” mobile phones

and our own game distribution business,

which we launched in South Korea.

In the European market, we released

Time Crisis: Project Titan for PS and Time
Crisis II, Ace Combat 04, MotoGP 2 and
Klonoa 2 for PS2.

Net sales for the segment increased

17.5% to ¥35,520 million, and operating

income rose 59.6% to ¥7,750 million.
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Introducing New
Amusement Facility Operations
The Amusement Facility Operations segment

had suffered negative growth for several

years, with weak sales and profits. But we

have consistently made strong effor ts to

bolster the operating capabilities of sepa-

rate arcades for increased customer traf-

fic, by reducing management costs and

revising the conditions for new launches.

Despite the dif ficult circumstances, the

gross margin has gradually been rising and

some arcades have begun to achieve such

impressive results as to seemingly disprove

the argument that this business sector is

stagnating.

Japan
During the term under review, we tested

new types of facilities including launching

of the mini-zoo Fureai Pet Garden in Kamata

Tokyu Plaza in Ota Ward, Tokyo, where

people are able to play with animals to

reduce stress. We also opened the first

ANIPA indoor petting zoo in the Mycal Otaru
shopping center in Otaru, Hokkaido, par t

of our ANIPA project. We were also run-

ning nine Kid’s Stadium facilities at the

end of the term under review. Kid’s Stadi-
ums, launched last year as places where

parents and children can play together, have

proven very popular. We will also continue

to aggressively promote the operation of

facilities without game machines, such as

those mentioned above. As a large-scale

establishment, we opened the amusement

complex Namco Wonder Park Sapporo in

Sapporo. As of the end of the term under

review, Namco NamjaTown in Toshima Ward,

Tokyo, had welcomed over 7 million visi-

tors in total since its launch in July 1996.

Team Namja, our squad of customer-

gathering facility producers, received an

order for the planning and design of an

enter tainment catering establishment

called Ramen Stadium. The establishment

opened in Hakata, Fukuoka, in December

2001.

As of the end of the term under re-

view, we ran a total of 986 facilities, of

which 369 were directly operated, 616 were

on the basis of revenue sharing, in which

the revenue is allocated according to the

operating sales of amusement equipment,

and 1 was a theme park.

Overseas Business Operations
North America
The Namco Group is engaged not only in

the development, production and sales of

commercial amusement equipment and

console game software, but also in the

management of amusement facilities in

different par ts of the world.

Namco Experience in Tamworth, U.K.
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Net Sales
(Billions of yen)

Share of Net Sales

98 99 00 01 02

74.7 77.175.176.278.4

50.7%

Technology
Namco Cyber tainment Inc., which op-

erates amusement facilities in Nor th

America, faces a very tough management

environment, par tly because of the eco-

nomic slowdown. As in the previous term,

it encouraged the closing of unprofitable

parlors, shutting 45 directly-operated fa-

cilities during the term. On the other hand,

the company develops new facilities for a

broader array of customers to strengthen

its profit-earning capacity, including inno-

vative enter tainment facilities combined

with restaurants. High in investment effi-

ciency, revenue sharing is to be continu-

ously expanded. As of the end of the term

under review, there were 1,049 facilities

in Nor th America, of which 282 were un-

der direct control and 767 were run on the

basis of revenue sharing.

Europe
In the European market, we acquired

a large amusement complex including a

game facility, bowling alleys, a nightclub

and a sport gym in the suburb of Birming-

ham, in England. This complex made an

excellent contribution to improving profit.

On the other hand, our profit-oriented op-

eration of amusement establishments

closed our shops in Nantes, France, and

in Oberhausen, Germany, the results of

which were both poor due to the deterio-

rated market climate. At the end of the term,

we had 30 facilities in the European mar-

ket, of which 9 were directly operated and

21 were run on a revenue-sharing basis.

Asia
In Asia, we sold an amusement facility in

the Shin Kong Mitsukoshi Department Store

in Kaohsiung, Taiwan, to a third par ty in

February 2002, as it had suffered a busi-

ness downturn in a deteriorating manage-

ment environment. However, sales and

profits of 10 directly managed shops in

China exceeded our initial expectations at

the beginning of the fiscal year. We ran 23

facilities in the Asian market, of which 16

were directly operated and 7 were on a

revenue-sharing basis.

In total, as of the end of the term, the

Namco Group had 2,088 establishments

in and outside Japan, of which 676 were

directly run, 1,411 were run on the basis

of revenue sharing and 1 was a theme park.

Net sales for the segment were up 3.3%

to ¥77,181 million. An operating income

of ¥2,087 million was recorded, compared

with operating loss of ¥821 million in the

previous fiscal year.

(From left to right)
ANIPA, Shima-Shima Town,
Namco Wonder Park Sapporo

(From left to right)
Namco Wonder Park in Shanghai,
China; kube in Tamworth, U.K.,
Wonder Park in Cincinnati, U.S.A.
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Belphégor: Le Fantôme du Louvre
©2000 Les films Alain Sarde

Exploring
Restaurant Operations
The Italian Tomato Group is the Restau-

rant Operations segment of the Namco

Group. Italian Tomato Ltd. operates res-

taurants and cafes featuring Italian cuisine

and homemade cakes in and outside Ja-

pan and I&K Co., Ltd. runs Italian Tomato

Café Jr. self-ser vice restaurants all over

the country.

The Restaurant Operations segment is

still suffering heavily from adverse consumer

sentiment. In February 2002, we sold T&E

Co., Ltd., a subsidiary operating in the boxed

lunch business, to a third party, to further

develop our focus on profitability and to

withdraw from the relatively unprofitable

boxed lunch business.

Restaurant Operations recorded net

sales of ¥4,229 million, a decrease of 1.2%

compared with the previous fiscal year.

Operating loss of ¥65 million was recorded,

compared with operating income of ¥131

million in the previous fiscal year.

Movies and Graphics
The Nikkatsu Group is the Movies and

Graphics segment of the Namco Group. Its

business activities encompass the produc-

tion, distribution and showing of movies,

satellite broadcasting, the sale of video

software and the commissioned production

of popular Japanese movies.

During the term, we signed a contract

with Gaga Communications Inc. and Crys-

tal Sky Productions for the planning and

development of a film version of our suc-

cessful game series Tekken.

With respect to the distribution busi-

ness, “Darkness in the Light,” a film di-

rected by Kei Kumai on the Matsumoto

Italian Tomato Café Jr.

KOKUSENYA KASSEN
©KOKUSENYA KASSEN COMMITTEE
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THE SEA WATCHES
©2002 THE SEA WATCHES PRODUCT COMMITTEE

©Nikkatsu Corporation
Scene from Arashi wo yobu otoko, broadcast on
Channel NECO

JAPAN NATIONAL TEAM DVD

New Businesses
sarin-gas-poisoning incident, drew so many

viewers that it was given an extended run.

“Warm Water Under a Red Bridge,” a film

by Shohei Imamura due for release in No-

vember, enjoys high admiration in and out-

side Japan, and received the Fiction Film

Award in the 20th International Environmen-

tal Film Festival. We also distributed many

other highly reputed films, including “Vengo”

(a French-Spanish co-production), “Nang
Nak” (a Thai production) and “Phantom:
The Submarine” (a South Korean produc-

tion).

In the showing business, we showed

such original movies as “Warm Water Un-
der a Red Bridge” as well as other topical

productions including “Amelie.” In Septem-

ber, we opened Cine Libre Kobe, following

launches at Hakata Station in May 1999,

at Ikebukuro in April 2000, and at Umeda

in December 2000. We will continue our

consistent efforts to expand the Cine Libre

theaters.

We deal with some other promising busi-

nesses as well. In the satellite broadcast-

ing business, we distribute two channels,

Channel NECO and Rainbow Channel, to
individual subscribers on the SKY PerfecTV!

service, to CATV stations and to lodging

facilities like hotels. In the video software

sales business, we released such titles

as “J-League Players 2000” and “80-Year
History of Japanese Soccer” from our sport-

ing enter tainment DVD label Fantasista,

in consideration of the 2002 FIFA World

Cup held in June 2002, and as a conse-

quence we won an unrivalled market share

in soccer DVDs.

The Movies and Graphics segment re-

corded net sales of ¥9,903 million, an in-

crease of 14.0% from the previous fiscal

term. Operating loss was ¥150 million com-

pared with an operating income of ¥125

million in the previous fiscal year.

Other
Acquired in April 2000 through our U.S.

subsidiar y, Musicplayground Inc. runs an

Internet business centered on music dis-

tribution for the enjoyment of musical in-

s t r uments.  Th is  business star ted

distribution in September 2001.

Yunokawa Kanko Hotel Co., Ltd. had

few customers in the first half of the term

in the wake of the eruptions of Mt. Usu,

but is improving its profitability with its sales

effor ts.

(L) Phantom: The Submarine
©Ilshin Investment Co.,Ltd.
All Rights Reserved.

(R) Kah-chan
©2001 Kah-Chan Production
Committee
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Millions of yen

2000 2001 2002

Sales by Segment
Coin-Operated Game Machines ¥ 20,668 ¥ 19,344 ¥ 18,291
Home Videogame Software 32,558 30,220 35,520
Amusement Facility Operations 75,119 74,686 77,181
Restaurant Operations 3,808 4,282 4,229
Movies and Graphics 7,321 8,687 9,903
Other 8,592 9,355 7,012

Total ¥148,066 ¥146,554 ¥152,136

Overseas Sales*
Overseas Sales ¥ 44,507 ¥ 40,239 ¥ 48,853
Net Sales 148,066 146,554 152,136

Percentage of Net Sales 30.1% 27.5% 32.1%

*Overseas sales include exports and sales by overseas subsidiaries.

Net Sales by Segment
(Billions of yen)

Operating Income (Loss)
(Billions of yen)

ROE and Operating Income Ratio
(%)

146.619.3 30.2

152.118.3 35.5 77.2 9.9

8.7

20.7

Coin-Operated Game Machines
Home Videogame Software
Amusement Facility Operations
Restaurant Operations
Movies and Graphics
Other

ROE
Operating Income Ratio

32.6 75.1 148.12000

2001

2002

(2.9)

6.7

6.1

2000

2001

2002

2000

2001

2002

6.64.5

-2.0

2.2 4.0

-6.374.7

9.34.3

7.3

8.63.8

7.04.2

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Scope of Consolidation
In accordance with generally accepted ac-
counting principles in Japan, the consoli-
dated financial statements include the
accounts of Namco Limited, 28 major sub-
sidiaries, and two affiliates.

Analysis of Sales
Namco’s consolidated net sales for fiscal
2002, ended March 31, 2002, rose 3.8% to
¥152,136 million. Overseas net sales rose
21.4% to ¥48,853 million, accounting for
32.1% of total net sales, compared with
27.5% in the previous fiscal year. By busi-
ness segment, net sales increased 17.5%
in the Home Videogame Software business
to ¥35,520 million, grew 3.3% in Amuse-
ment Facility Operations to ¥77,181 mil-
lion, and rose 14.0% in Movies and
Graphics to ¥9,903 million. However, net
sales fell 5.4% in the Coin-Operated Game
Machines business to ¥18,291 million,
edged down 1.2% in Restaurant Operations
to ¥4,229 million, and dropped 24.9% in
the Other segment to ¥7,012 million.

Analysis of Net Income
On a consolidated basis, cost of sales de-
clined 2.9% to ¥117,283 million, even as
net sales increased 3.8% to ¥152,136 mil-
lion. Accordingly, the gross profit margin
increased 5.3 percentage points to 22.9%,
compared with 17.6% in the previous term.

This improvement was achieved primarily
by streamlining corporate operations, low-
ering procurement costs and rationalizing
manufacturing activities.

Selling, general and administrative
(SG&A) expenses were virtually unchanged
at ¥28,720 million. Due to the increase in
net sales, however, SG&A expenses as a
percentage of net sales fell from 19.6% in
the prior period to 18.9%. We anticipate
that further streamlining of corporate man-
agement functions will result in even lower
SG&A expenses, in percentage terms, in
the future.

Total research and development (R&D)
expenses were ¥15,655 million, an in-
crease of 46.3% from the previous fiscal
year. The rise in R&D expenses in the term
under review is a result of the generally
higher development costs associated with
higher performance for home and portable
videogame machines and consoles, and the
cost of subcontracted work. The cost of
subcontracted work has been included in
R&D expenses in fiscal 2002 for the first
time.

Operating income totaled ¥6,133 mil-
lion, a sharp improvement compared with
the operating loss of ¥2,866 million in the
previous fiscal year. This increase was the
result of organizational changes instituted
from April 1, 2001, whose main thrusts
were streamlining, restructuring and new

business creation. We are pleased to report
this return to profitability, and expect that
our structural reforms will lead to even
greater profitability in the future.

Namco’s three-largest business seg-
ments recorded large increases in operat-
ing income over the previous fiscal year. By
segment (excluding certain unallocated
administrative expenses) Amusement Facil-
ity Operations posted operating income of
¥2,087 million, up sharply from the prior
period’s operating loss of ¥821 million. The
Coin-Operated Game Machines segment
also returned to profitability, recording op-
erating income of ¥1,494 million, up from
the previous fiscal year’s loss of ¥3,207
million. In the Home Videogame Software
segment, operating income rose 59.6%
over the prior period to ¥7,750 million. Res-
taurant Operations posted an operating
loss of ¥65 million, compared with income
of ¥131 million the same time last year.
Movies and Graphics recorded an operating
loss of ¥150 million, compared with operat-
ing income of ¥125 million in the previous
fiscal year. The Other segment recorded an
operating loss of ¥1,374 million, compared
with an operating loss of ¥436 million in
the prior period.

Other income declined 75.4% to ¥676
million, chiefly due to the absence of the
large gain on exemption from reassessment
debt that was recorded in the prior fiscal

Millions of yen

2000 2001 2002

Operating Income by Segment
Coin-Operated Game Machines ¥ 370 ¥ (3,207) ¥ 1,494
Home Videogame Software 9,822 4,855 7,750
Amusement Facility Operations 573 (821) 2,087
Restaurant Operations 80 131 (65)
Movies and Graphics (168) 125 (150)
Other 375 (436) (1,374)
Elimination (289) 294 229

Total ¥10,763 ¥ 941 ¥ 9,971

Unallocated Administrative
   Expenses ¥ 4,043 ¥ 3,807 ¥ 3,838

Operating Income ¥ 6,720 ¥ (2,866) ¥ 6,133
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11.9

Capital Expenditure
Cash Flow*

* Cash flow equals net income plus depreciation and 
amor tisation, minus dividends and bonuses to directors
and statutor y auditors.

* Interest coverage ratio equals income before income
taxes plus interest expense, divided by interest expense.

Total Assets
Shareholders’ Equity Ratio (%)

Total Long- and Shor t-term Debt
Interest Coverage Ratio (Times)*

16.2

13.22000

2001

2002 144.1

139.0

168.62000

2001

2002 17.9

17.7

37.22000

2001

2002

59.2

66.0

Capital Expenditure and Cash Flow
(Billions of yen)

Total Assets and
Shareholders’ Equity Ratio
(Billions of yen)

Total Long- and Shor t-term Debt 
and Interest Coverage Ratio
(Billions of yen)

66.7

24.0

9.7

(NA)

16.1

20.5

7.1

period. Other expenses dropped 57.5% to
¥3,857 million, owing mainly to a sharply
lower year-on-year figure for revaluation
loss on securities, as well as the absences
of a ¥1,466 million loss on sale of prop-
erty and equipment, and of an additional
non-recurring retirement payment of
¥1,330 million.

Income before income taxes of ¥2,952
million was recorded, compared with a loss
of ¥9,196 million in the prior period. Total
income taxes paid were ¥917 million. Ac-
cordingly, net income for the period was
¥2,035 million, up from a net loss of
¥6,000 million in the previous fiscal year.
Primary net income per share of common
stock was ¥36.95, compared with a loss of
¥109.09 in the previous fiscal year. Fully
diluted net income per share of common
stock was ¥35.97. Management increased
cash dividends applicable to the year to
¥17.00 per share from ¥15.00 per share in
the prior period.

Analysis of Cash Flows
Net cash provided by operating activities
rose 24.6% from the previous fiscal year to
¥15,368 million. The largest line-item con-
tribution to this favorable development was
the increase in net income of ¥8,035 mil-
lion over the prior period. Namco’s largest
non-cash expense in the past two fiscal
years has been depreciation and amortiza-
tion, with ¥14,085 million recorded in the
term under review, down from ¥14,623 mil-
lion during the same time last year. Depre-
ciation and amortization charges are
non-cash expenses which, together with
certain other items, are added to net in-
come for the period under review to arrive
at net cash provided by operating activi-
ties. Deferred income taxes rose ¥20 mil-
lion, with cash flow rising accordingly.
Despite the recording of a non-recurring
gain on exemption from reassessment debt
of ¥1,911 million in the prior fiscal period,
the absence of this item in the term under
review reduced net free cash flow in an
equal amount.

Increases in non-cash operating assets
during a period will, other items held equal,

reduce net free cash flow for the period,
while decreases in such assets will in-
crease net free cash flow. Similarly, de-
creases in operating liabilities during a
period will reduce net free cash flow, while
increases in these items will increase net
free cash flow. Trade receivables increased
by ¥1,899 million during the fiscal period
under review, reducing cash flow accord-
ingly. Similarly, inventories rose ¥2,847
million during the period under review, re-
ducing cash flow accordingly. Trade
payables decreased ¥863 million, reducing
cash flow accordingly.

Net cash used in investing activities
was ¥11,009 million, compared with
¥4,053 million during the same period last
year. The largest item in this category was
capital expenditure of ¥10,273 million,
compared with ¥13,711 million in the previ-
ous fiscal year. In addition, a decrease in
non-current collateral deposits of ¥6,047
million in the prior fiscal period did not re-
cur, inflating net cash used in investing
activities year-on-year.

Net cash used in financing activities
was ¥142 million, down from ¥20,109 mil-
lion in the prior period. Bank borrowings,
net, were ¥2,889 million, compared with
negative ¥8,244 million in the prior period.
A repayment of reassessment debt in the
amount of ¥10,512 million from the prior
fiscal period did not recur, thereby increas-
ing cash flow from financing activities year-
on-year. There was a cash outflow of
¥3,090 million during the fiscal period end-
ing March 31, 2002, for the redemption of
convertible bonds.

The effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents was ¥650 mil-
lion for the period under review, up from
¥221 million in the prior period.

A net increase in cash and cash equiva-
lents of ¥4,867 million was recorded for
the fiscal period under review, compared
with a net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents of ¥11,609 million during the
same period last year. Total cash and cash
equivalents at end of year were ¥25,240
million, an increase of 24.8% over the prior
period.

Analysis of Financial Position
Namco’s financial position strengthened
during the fiscal year ended March 31,
2002, owing to a number of factors: total
shareholders’ equity increased, the equity
ratio at fiscal year-end was up, the ratio of
total liabilities to total shareholders’ equity
decreased, the Company’s current ratio
improved and net working capital rose
sharply.

Total current assets increased 19.7% to
¥61,346 million, driven mainly by increases
in cash and inventories. By far the largest
factor raising inventories was a sharp in-
crease in work in process of ¥7,201 mil-
lion, an increase of 156% over the prior
fiscal year. Total current liabilities dropped
2.0% to ¥29,659 million. The current por-
tion of long-term debt, trade payables and
other payables all fell, while short-term
bank loans rose slightly. As a result, net
working capital rose 51.0% to ¥31,687
million. The current ratio at fiscal year-end
was 2.1 times, compared with 1.7 times at
the end of the prior-year period. Net prop-
erty and equipment fell 4.4% to ¥39,586
million, due mainly to an increase in accu-
mulated depreciation. Total other assets
fell 6.7% to ¥43,208 million. Accordingly,
total assets rose 3.7% during the period
under review to ¥144,140 million.

Interest-bearing debt, defined as short-
term bank loans, the current portion of
long-term debt, long-term debt and reas-
sessment debt, rose 1.5% during the period
to ¥17,914 million. Total liabilities rose
1.2% to ¥46,393 million.

Net shareholders’ equity increased 4.9%
to ¥96,133 million, primarily reflecting the
turnaround to operating profitability, in con-
trast to the operating loss recorded in the
previous fiscal year. As a result of the in-
crease in shareholders’ equity, the equity
ratio at fiscal year-end improved to 66.7%
from 66.0% in the prior period. The ratio of
total liabilities to total shareholders’ equity
fell from 50.0% at the end of the prior pe-
riod to 48.3% as of March 31, 2002.
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NAMCO LIMITED and subsidiaries
31st March, 2001 and 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen (Note 2)

Assets 2001 2002 2002

Current assets:

Cash (Note 3) ¥ 20,346 ¥ 25,319 $ 208,130

Receivables:

Trade receivables 16,713 18,806 154,591

Allowance for doubtful accounts (424) (840) (6,905)

Net receivables 16,289 17,966 147,686

Inventories (Note 5) 7,169 12,504 102,787

Deferred income taxes—current (Note 9) 1,575 2,522 20,732

Other current assets 5,882 3,035 24,948

Total current assets 51,261 61,346 504,283

Property and equipment:

Amusement machines and facilities 90,777 92,420 759,721

Buildings and structures 10,369 10,825 88,985

Machinery and equipment 11,764 11,886 97,707

Land 6,979 7,636 62,770

Construction in progress 20 — —

Accumulated depreciation (78,504) (83,181) (683,774)

Net property and equipment 41,405 39,586 325,409

Other assets:

Investment securities, including non-consolidated

subsidiaries and affiliates (Note 4) 2,274 1,501 12,339

Leasehold deposits (Note 6) 28,903 28,274 232,421

Goodwill 1,692 1,467 12,059

Long-term prepaid expenses 1,408 1,139 9,363

Deferred income taxes—non-current (Note 9) 6,312 5,605 46,075

Other non-current assets 5,865 6,561 53,933

Allowance for doubtful accounts (158) (1,339) (11,007)

Total other assets 46,296 43,208 355,183

Total assets ¥138,962 ¥144,140 $1,184,875

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen (Note 2)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 2001 2002 2002

Current liabilities:

Short-term bank loans ¥ 4,648 ¥ 5,702 $ 46,872

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 7) 3,619 1,658 13,629

Trade payables 12,045 11,451 94,131

Other payables 3,806 3,395 27,908

Accrued income taxes (Note 9) 507 895 7,357

Accrued expenses 3,325 3,994 32,832

Other current liabilities 2,325 2,564 21,077

Total current liabilities 30,275 29,659 243,806

Long-term debt (Note 7) 9,383 10,554 86,757

Allowance for employees’ retirement benefits (Note 8) 1,231 1,217 10,004

Other long-term liabilities 4,937 4,963 40,798

Total liabilities 45,826 46,393 381,365

Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries 1,490 1,614 13,268

Shareholders’ equity (Note 10):

Common stock:

Authorized—109,685,421 shares

Issued—55,087,618 shares (2001—55,087,618 shares) 27,369 27,369 224,982

Additional paid-in capital 26,399 26,399 217,008

Retained earnings 39,279 41,251 339,096

Other securities valuation difference (108) (124) (1,019)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,217) 1,238 10,175

91,722 96,133 790,242

Treasury stock (76) (—) (—)

Net shareholders’ equity 91,646 96,133 790,242

Contingent liabilities (Note 13)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ¥138,962 ¥144,140 $1,184,875
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Consolidated Statements of Income
NAMCO LIMITED and subsidiaries
Years ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen (Note 2)

2001 2002 2002

Net sales ¥146,554 ¥152,136 $1,250,604

Cost of sales 120,738 117,283 964,102

Gross profit 25,816 34,853 286,502

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 11) 28,682 28,720 236,087

Operating income (loss) (2,866) 6,133 50,415

Other income:

Interest and dividends 390 302 2,483

Gain on sale of property and equipment — 124 1,019

Gain on exemption from reassessment debt 1,911 — —

Other 449 250 2,055

2,750 676 5,557

Other expenses:

Interest 404 340 2,795

Other (Note 12) 8,676 3,517 28,911

9,080 3,857 31,706

Income (loss) before income taxes (9,196) 2,952 24,266

Income taxes (Note 9):

Current 765 897 7,374

Deferred (3,961) 20 164

Net income (loss) ¥ (6,000) ¥ 2,035 $ 16,728

U.S. dollars
Yen   (Note 2)

Per share of common stock:

Net income (loss):

Primary ¥(109.09) ¥36.95 $0.30

Fully diluted — 35.97 0.30

Cash dividends applicable to the year 15.00 17.00 0.14

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
NAMCO LIMITED and subsidiaries
Years ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen (Note 2)

2001 2002 2002

Common stock:

Balance at beginning of year ¥27,369 ¥27,369 $224,982

Conversion of convertible bonds 0 — —

Balance at end of year 27,369 27,369 224,982

Additional paid-in capital:

Balance at beginning of year 26,399 26,399 217,008

Conversion of convertible bonds 0 — —

Balance at end of year 26,399 26,399 217,008

Retained earnings:

Balance at beginning of year 46,383 39,279 322,885

Adjustment arising from acquisition of

consolidated subsidiaries — (61) (501)

Addition arising from merger 430 — —

Net income (6,000) 2,035 16,728

Appropriations:

Cash dividends (1,495) — —

Bonuses to directors and statutory auditors (39) (2) (16)

Balance at end of year 39,279 41,251 339,096

Other securities valuation difference:

Balance at beginning of year — (108) (888)

Net change during the year (108) (16) (131)

Balance at end of year (108) (124) (1,019)

Foreign currency translation adjustments:

Balance at beginning of year — (1,217) (10,004)

Net change during the year (1,217) 2,455 20,179

Balance at end of year (1,217) 1,238 10,175

Treasury stock:

Balance at beginning of year (377) (76) (625)

Decrease during the year 301 76 625

Balance at end of year (76) (0) (0)

Net shareholders’ equity ¥91,646 ¥96,133 $790,242

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
NAMCO LIMITED and subsidiaries
Years ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen   (Note 2)

2001 2002 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) ¥ (6,000) ¥ 2,035 $ 16,728
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortisation 14,623 14,085 115,783
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 1,394 101 830
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,235 1,268 10,423
Revaluation loss on securities 2,475 763 6,272
Deferred income taxes (3,961) 20 164
Gain on exemption from reassessment debt (1,911) — —
Other non-cash items 929 1,714 14,090
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade receivables 1,183 (1,899) (15,610)
Inventories 3,101 (2,847) (23,403)
Trade payables 361 (863) (7,094)
Accrued income taxes (1,981) 388 3,189
Accrued expenses (519) 572 4,702
Other, net 443 62 509

Other payments (40) (31) (253)

Net cash provided by operating activities 12,332 15,368 126,330

Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for time deposits (254) (31) (255)
Proceeds from time deposits 4,008 78 641
Capital expenditure (13,711) (10,273) (84,447)
Payment of leasehold deposits (1,878) (1,911) (15,709)
Repayment of leasehold deposits 2,612 2,004 16,473
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,582 639 5,253
Acquisition of investment securities (161) (115) (945)
Increase in non-current collateral deposits (1,283) — —
Decrease in non-current collateral deposits 6,047 — —
Sale of common shares of treasury stock 301 0 0
Payment in connection with business transfer (969) (928) (7,628)
Other, net (347) (472) (3,880)

Net cash used in investing activities (4,053) (11,009) (90,497)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Short-term bank loans, net (8,475) 476 3,913
Payments for long-term bank loans 742 3,457 28,417
Proceeds from long-term bank loans (511) (1,044) (8,582)
Repayment of reassessment debt (10,512) — —
Redemption of convertible bonds — (3,090) (25,401)
Cash dividends paid (1,495) — —
Other, net 142 59 486

Net cash used in financing activities (20,109) (142) (1,167)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 221 650 5,342

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (11,609) 4,867 40,008

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 30,728 20,222 166,231
Cash and cash equivalents on beginning balance arising
from merger 1,103 — —

Cash and cash equivalents on beginning balance arising
from acquisition of consolidated subsidiaries — 151 1,241

31,831 20,373 167,472

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 3) ¥20,222 ¥25,240 $207,480

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
NAMCO LIMITED and subsidiaries
31st March, 2001 and 2002

1. Basis of Financial Statement Presentation and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
prepared from the accounts maintained by Namco Limited (“the
Company”) in accordance with the provisions set forth in the
Japanese Commercial Code and in confomity with accounting
principles and practices generally accepted in Japan, which may
differ in some material respects from accounting principles and
practices generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other
than Japan.

In preparing the accompanying financial statements, certain
reclassifications have been made in order to present them in a
form which is more familiar to readers outside Japan. In addition,
the notes to the consolidated financial statements include infor-
mation which is not required under accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in Japan but is presented herein as additional
information.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries maintain their
books of account in conformity with generally accepted account-
ing principles in Japan, and its foreign subsidiaries in conformity
with those of the United States and other generally accepted
accounting principles, based on where the subsidiaries are incor-
porated. No adjustments have been reflected in the accompany-
ing consolidated financial statements to present the accounts of
the foreign subsidiaries in compliance with Japanese accounting
principles as followed by the Company. However, it is the opinion
of the management of the Company that the accounting prin-
ciples followed by the foreign subsidiaries do not substantially dif-
fer from those followed by the Company, except for methods of
depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of good-
will.

Significant accounting policies are as follows:

(a) Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and significant subsidiaries controlled
directly or indirectly by the Company. Significant affiliates over
which the Company exercises significant influence in terms of
their operating and financial policies as well as a non-consoli-
dated subsidiary have been included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements on an equity basis. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

In order to facilitate consolidation, subsidiaries mainly adopt
an annual fiscal period that ends on the last day of February.

The Company has applied the equity method, after elimination
of unrealized intercompany profit, for investments in non-consoli-
dated subsidiary and significant affiliates.

(b) Foreign Currency Translation
Until the year ended 31st March, 2000, receivables and
payables, except for non-current receivables and payables, de-
nominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date were
translated at the exchange rates in effect as of the balance sheet
date or at foreign exchange forward contract rates and the unre-
alized gain or loss reflected in other income (expenses). Non-cur-
rent receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies
were translated at the exchange rates in effect as of the transac-
tion date.

Effective from the year ended 31st March, 2001, the Com-
pany adopted the revised accounting standard for foreign cur-

rency transactions (“Opinion Concerning Establishment of Ac-
counting for Foreign Currency Transactions”, the Business Ac-
counting Deliberation Council, 22nd October, 1999). Under the
revised accounting standard, all receivables and payables de-
nominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are
translated at the exchange rates in effect as of the balance sheet
dates, and the unrealized gain or loss is reflected in other income
(expenses).

The accounts of foreign subsidiaries are translated into yen
at the year end rates. Gains and losses resulting from transla-
tion are generally excluded from the statements of income and
are accumulated under the balance sheet caption “Foreign cur-
rency translation adjustments” in “Shareholders’ equity”.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the
Company considers cash, bank deposits which may be withdrawn
on demand and all highly liquid investments with maturities of
three months or less that are easily transferable to cash and
without diminution of principal to be cash and cash equivalents.

(d) Investment Securities
Effective from the year ended 31st March, 2001, the Company
adopted the new accounting standard for financial instruments
(“Opinion Concerning Establishment of Accounting for Financial
Instruments”, the Business Accounting Deliberation Council,
22nd January, 1999).

The accounting standard for financial instruments requires the
Company to classify its securities into one of the following three
categories; trading, held-to-maturity, or other securities. Based on
this classification system, all of the Company’s securities are
classified as other securities and included in “other assets” as
“investment securities”.

Other securities with a market value are principally carried at
market value. The difference between the acquisition cost and
the carrying value of other securities, including unrealized gains
and losses, is recognized in “Other securities valuation differ-
ence” in “Shareholders’ equity”. Other securities without market
value are principally carried at cost. The cost of other securities
sold is principally computed based on the moving-average
method.

(e) Inventories
Inventories of the Company and domestic subsidiaries are stated
at cost, determined by the moving-average method, adjusted for
any substantial and permanent decline in value. Inventories of
foreign subsidiaries are stated at the lower of cost (principally
first in, first out) or market (net realizable value).

(f) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is com-
puted principally under the declining-balance method for assets
held by the Company and domestic subsidiaries and under the
straight-line method for assets held by foreign subsidiaries, at
rates based on estimated useful lives of the assets according to
general class, type of construction and use. Repairs and mainte-
nance which do not improve or extend the life of the related as-
sets are expensed.
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(g) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair
market value of net assets acquired in business combinations.
Goodwill incurred by foreign subsidiaries is amortized principally
using the straight-line method over 15 years, and the amount of
any goodwill impairment is measured in conformity with account-
ing principles and practices generally accepted in the country of
incorporation. Goodwill incurred by the Company and domestic
subsidiaries is charged to income when incurred.

(h) Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses are charged to income as
selling, general and administrative expenses of the period in
which they are incurred. When the management of the Company
indicates its intention to produce and market a product, related
research and development expenses are accounted for as pro-
duction costs of the product.

(i) Retirement Benefits
Under the Company’s and its domestic subsidiaries’ employee
retirement plan, employees are entitled to receive lump-sum or
pension payments based on length of service and current basic
salary. Amounts payable under the plan are provided by a funded
pension plan.

Effective from the year ended 31st March, 2001, the Com-
pany adopted the new accounting standard for retirement ben-
efits (“Opinion Concerning Establishment of Accounting Standard
for Retirement Benefits”, the Business Accounting Deliberation
Council, 16th June, 1998). In accordance with this standard, the
allowance for retirement benefits for employees is provided
based on the estimated retirement benefit obligation and the
pension assets.

The transition difference of ¥894 million (U.S.$7,349 thou-
sand) arising from the adoption of the new accounting standard
was charged to the statement of income in “Other expenses” in
the year ended 31st March, 2001.

Actuarial gains and losses are amortized using the straight-line
method in the year following the year in which the gain or loss is
recognized, over the estimated average remaining service years
of employees. Most foreign subsidiaries have various retirement
plans, principally defined contribution plans, covering substan-
tially all of their employees.

While the Company has no legal obligation, it is customary
practice in Japan to make lump-sum payments to directors or
statutory auditors upon retirement, with the approval of share-
holders at the annual shareholders’ meeting. According to the
Company’s established guidelines, the amount of such allowance
is computed based upon payment factors determined by position
and length of service as director or statutory auditor. Allowance
for retirement benefits for directors and statutory auditors re-
quired under the plan has been provided at an estimated amount
of ¥1,929 million and ¥1,984 million (U.S.$16,309 thousand) at
31st March, 2001 and 2002, respectively, and is included in
“Other long-term liabilities”.

(j) Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recognized in the
consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31st March,
2001 and 2002 with respect to the differences between the fi-
nancial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, mea-
sured using the enacted tax rates and laws which will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on de-
ferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recog-
nized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

(k) Net Income and Cash Dividends per Share
In computing primary net income per share, the average number
of shares of common stock outstanding during each year has
been used.

The computation of fully diluted net income per share reflects
the effect of common shares contingently issuable upon the con-
version of convertible bonds as if such bonds had been converted
at the beginning of the year or at the time of issue in the case of
newly issued bonds after giving effect to the elimination of inter-
est expenses, less income tax effect, applicable to the convert-
ible bonds.

Cash dividends per share represent dividends declared for the
respective year.

(l) Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ con-
solidated financial statements to conform to the presentation
used for the year ended 31st March, 2002.

2. U.S. Dollar Amounts
The financial statements presented herein are expressed in yen
and, solely for the convenience of the reader, have been trans-
lated into United States dollars at the rate of ¥121.65 = U.S.$1,
the approximate exchange rate at 24th June, 2002.

This translation should not be construed as a representation
that the amounts shown could be converted into U.S. dollars at
that rate.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
A reconciliation of the cash per consolidated balance sheets and
cash and cash equivalents per statements of cash flows is as
follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Cash ¥20,346 ¥25,319 $208,130
Time deposits with
maturities greater
than three months (124) (79) (650)

Cash and cash equivalents ¥20,222 ¥25,240 $207,480

4. Investment Securities
The acquisition cost, carrying amount (market value) and gross
unrealized holding gain and loss for other securities with a mar-
ket value are summarized as follows:

Millions of yen

Gross Gross Carr ying
Acquisition unrealized unrealized amount

cost holding gain holding loss (Market value)

2001:
Other securities:

Equity securities ¥ 958 ¥42 ¥ 94 ¥ 906
Other 521 — 132 389

¥1,479 ¥42 ¥226 ¥1,295

2002:
Other securities:

Equity securities ¥ 516 ¥26 ¥ 50 ¥ 492
Other 519 — 189 330

¥1,035 ¥26 ¥239 ¥ 822
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Thousands of U.S. dollars

Gross Gross Carr ying
Acquisition unrealized unrealized amount

cost holding gain holding loss (Market value)

2002:
Other securities:

Equity securities $4,242 $214 $ 411 $4,044
Other 4,266 — 1,554 2,713

$8,508 $214 $1,965 $6,757

The following is a summary of non-marketable securities:

Carr ying amount

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

2001:
Other securities:

Equity securities ¥586 $4,817

2002:
Other securities:

Equity securities ¥365 $3,000

Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates,
which are included in “Investment securities”, are ¥393 million
and ¥314 million (U.S.$2,582 thousand) at 31st March, 2001
and 2002, respectively.

Proceeds, gross realized gains and losses from the sales of
other securities in the year ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002
are summarized as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Proceeds ¥ 153 ¥21 $ 173
Gross realized gains ¥ — ¥ 4 $ 33
Gross realized losses ¥ 72 ¥ — $ —

5. Inventories
Inventories at 31st March, 2001 and 2002 are summarized as
follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Merchandise ¥ 854 ¥ 1,236 $ 10,160
Products 1,731 1,765 14,509
Raw materials 934 1,458 11,985
Work in process 2,812 7,201 59,194
Supplies 838 844 6,939

¥7,169 ¥ 12,504 $102,787

6. Leasehold Deposits
Leasehold deposits at 31st March, 2001 and 2002 are summa-
rized as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Deposits for amusement
facility operations and
restaurant operations ¥23,115 ¥22,672 $186,371

Deposits for of fice space 1,539 1,288 10,588
Other deposits 4,249 4,314 35,462

¥28,903 ¥28,274 $232,421

Leasehold deposits do not bear interest and are generally re-
fundable when the lease is terminated.

The Companies conduct amusement facility operations and
restaurant operations on properties leased from lessors under
long-term lease contracts. Lease expenses for amusement facil-
ity operations and restaurant operations for the years ended 31st
March, 2001 and 2002 amounted to ¥19,642 million and
¥19,956 million (U.S.$164,044 thousand), respectively.

7. Long-term Debt
Long-term debt at 31st March, 2001 and 2002 is summarized
as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

0.8% unsecured
conver tible bonds due
28th September, 2001
conver tible into common
stock at ¥3,106 per share ¥ 3,090 ¥ — $ —

0.9% unsecured
conver tible bonds due
30th September, 2003
conver tible into common
stock at ¥3,106 per share 7,178 7,178 59,005

Bank loans 2,734 5,034 41,381

13,002 12,212 100,386
Current por tion (3,619) (1,658) (13,629)

¥ 9,383 ¥10,554 $ 86,757

For the benefit of the holders of the 0.8% and 0.9% convert-
ible bonds, the Company has agreed that the aggregate amount
of payments of cash dividends may not exceed ¥4,400 million
(U.S.$36,169 thousand) plus the aggregate amount of net in-
come of the Company.

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt outstand-
ing at 31st March, 2002 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2003 ¥  1,658 $  13,629
2004 8,723 71,706
2005 1,057 8,689
2006 205 1,685
Later year 569 4,677

¥12,212 $100,386

8. Employees’ Retirement Benefits
The plan’s funded status and amount recognized in the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheets at 31st March, 2001 and
2002 are as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Retirement benefit
obligation ¥ 5,020 ¥ 4,959 $ 40,764

Plan assets at fair value (3,117) (2,866) (23,559)

Retirement benefit
obligation in excess of
plan assets 1,903 2,093 17,205

Unrecognized actuarial loss (672) (876) (7,201)
Allowance for employees’
retirement benefits ¥ 1,231 ¥ 1,217 $ 10,004



28

Net periodic benefit cost for the years ended 31st March,
2001 and 2002 consisted of the following:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Ser vice cost ¥ 399 ¥443 $3,642
Interest cost on retirement
  benefit obligation 126 116 954
Estimated return on plan
assets (95) (95) (781)

Amor tisation of transition
  dif ference on adoption of
  accounting standard for
  retirement benefits 894 — —
Amor tisation of unrecognized
actuarial loss — 48 394

Net periodic cost ¥1,324 ¥512 $4,209

The actuarial assumptions and basis for the calculation of re-
tirement severance benefits are as follows:

2001 2002

Method of the benefit
attribution “Benefit/year-of-ser vice” approach

Discount rate 2.6% 2.6%
Estimated rate of return
on plan assets 3.5% 3.1%

Period of amor tization of
transition dif ference on
adoption of accounting
standard for retirement
benefits 1 year —

Period of amor tization Actuarial gains and losses are
of unrecognized amor tized using the straight-line
actuarial gain or loss method in the year following the

year in which the gain or loss is
recognized, over the estimated
average remaining ser vice years
of employees.

9. Income Taxes
The Company is subject to Japanese corporate, inhabitant and
enterprise taxes based on income, which in aggregate resulted
in a normal tax rate of approximately 42% in the years ended 31st
March, 2001 and 2002.

Income taxes of foreign consolidated subsidiaries are based
on the tax rates applicable in their countries of incorporation.

The effective income tax rate reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income for the years ended 31st
March, 2001 and 2002 differs from the Japanese normal income
tax rate primarily because of the effects of permanently non-de-
ductible expenses.

A reconciliation of the Japanese normal income tax rate and
the effective income tax rate as a percentage of income before
income taxes for the years ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002 is
as follows:

2001 2002

Japanese normal income tax rate 42.0% 42.0%
Increase (reduction) in income
taxes resulting from:

Valuation allowance (1.6) (19.8)
Inhabitant tax per capita (2.3) 6.7
Other (3.1) 0.9

Ef fective income tax rate 35.0% 29.8%

The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to sig-
nificant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at 31st
March, 2001 and 2002 are presented below:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Deferred tax assets:
Tax loss carr yforward ¥ 3,327 ¥2,080 $17,098
Devaluation loss on
securities 1,059 1,391 11,434

Depreciation and
amortisation 964 1,557 12,799

Allowance for retirement
benefits for directors
and statutory auditors 810 830 6,823

Allowance for employees’
retirement benefits 465 454 3,732

Other 2,547 2,562 21,061

Total gross deferred
tax assets 9,172 8,874 72,947

Valuation allowance (1,285) (747) (6,140)

Total net deferred
tax assets 7,887 8,127 66,807

Deferred tax liabilities:
Revaluation of proper ty
and equipment (57) (57) (469)

Other (60) (51) (419)

Total gross deferred
tax liabilities (117) (108) (888)

Net deferred tax assets ¥ 7,770 ¥8,019 $65,919

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Deferred tax assets—
current ¥1,575 ¥2,522 $20,732

Deferred tax assets—
non-current 6,312 5,605 46,075

Deferred tax liabilities—
current (included in
other current liabilities) (47) (46) (378)

Deferred tax liabilities—
non-current (included in
other long-term liabilities) (70) (62) (510)

¥7,770 ¥8,019 $65,919

10. Shareholders’ Equity
The Japanese Commercial Code provided previously that an
amount equal to at least 10% of appropriations paid in cash be
appropriated as a legal reserve until such reserve equals 25% of
common stock. The Japanese Commercial Code, amended effec-
tive on 1st October, 2001, provides that an amount equal to at
least 10% of appropriations paid in cash be appropriated as a
legal reserve until the aggregate amount of additional paid-in
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capital and legal reserve equals 25% of common stock. The le-
gal reserve of Namco Limited was ¥1,435 million (U.S.$11,796
thousand) as of 31st March, 2002 and 2001, respectively, which
was included in retained earnings.

Of the total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal re-
serve, ¥6,842 million (U.S.$56,243 thousand), representing
25% of common stock at 31st March, 2002, is not available for
dividends but may be used to reduce a deficit or may be trans-
ferred to common stock.

Cash dividends, directors’ and statutory auditors’ bonuses
and appropriations to the legal reserve charged to retained earn-
ings during the years ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002 repre-
sent dividends and bonuses paid out during each period and the
related appropriations to the legal reserve.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not
include any provision for a dividend of ¥17 per share aggregating
¥936 million (U.S.$7,694 thousand) and bonuses to directors
and statutory auditors aggregating ¥80 million (U.S.$658 thou-
sand) declared in June 2002.

11. Research and Development Expenses
The total amount of expenses of the Research and Development
Department for the years ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002
amounted to ¥10,702 million and ¥15,655 million
(U.S.$128,689 thousand), respectively. ¥6,120 million and
¥6,544 million (U.S.$53,794 thousand) were charged to selling,
general and administrative expenses in 2001 and 2002, respec-
tively.

12. Other Expenses
The composition of other expenses—other for the years ended
31st March, 2001 and 2002 is as follows:

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Revaluation loss on
securities ¥2,475 ¥   763 $  6,272

Foreign exchange loss — 55 452
Amor tisation of goodwill 239 293 2,409
Impairment loss on goodwill — 578 4,751
Loss on disposal of proper ty
and equipment 159 171 1,406

Provision for doubtful
accounts in connection
with other assets 88 584 4,801

Minority interest in
consolidated subsidiaries 54 126 1,036

Loss on sale of proper ty
and equipment 1,466 — —

Amor tisation of transition
dif ference on adoption
of accounting standard
for retirement benefits 894 — —

Additional retirement
payments 1,330 — —

Revaluation loss on
proper ty and equipment 986 89 732

Other 985 858 7,052

¥8,676 ¥3,517 $28,911

13. Contingent Liabilities
At 31st March, 2001 and 2002 contingent liabilities for loans
guaranteed by the Company amounted to ¥19 million and ¥12
million (U.S.$99 thousand), respectively.

It is common practice in Japan for companies, in the ordinary
course of business, to receive promissory notes in the settle-
ment of trade accounts receivable and to subsequently discount
such notes at banks. At 31st March, 2001 and 2002, the Com-
pany was contingently liable with respect to trade notes receiv-
able discounted in the amounts of ¥48 million and ¥31 million
(U.S.$255 thousand), respectively. Notes discounted are re-
moved from the balance sheets.

In the opinion of management of the Company, it is not antici-
pated that any substantial loss will result from these contingen-
cies.

14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Thousands of
Millions of yen U.S. dollars

2001 2002 2002

Cash paid during year for
Interest ¥   437 ¥337 $2,770
Income taxes 3,359 514 4,225

Non-cash activities
In 2001 and 2002, there were no material non-cash investing
and financing activities.

15. Stock Option Plan
On 27th June, 1998, the Company’s shareholders approved a
stock option plan, which permitted the Company to grant options
for up to 119,000 shares of its common stock to all directors
(except chairman and chief executive officer) and eligible key
employees.

Options under this plan were exercisable from 1st July, 2000
to 30th June, 2003, and the option price per share was set at
¥2,357 on the date the options were granted. On 30th June,
2001, this stock option plan closed due to cancellation of all
outstanding options.

A summary of changes in common stock options is as follows:

1998 plan
No. of shares

Outstanding at 31st March, 1998 —
Granted on 27th June, 1998 119,000
Exercised —
Cancelled (1,500)

Outstanding at 31st March, 1999 117,500
Exercised —
Cancelled (3,000)

Outstanding at 31st March, 2000 114,500
Exercised —
Cancelled (114,000)

Outstanding at 31st March, 2001 500
Exercised —
Cancelled (500)

Outstanding at 31st March, 2002 —
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16. Segment Information
(a) Business Segment Information
The Company and its subsidiaries operate in six business segments, as indicated below.
Certain corporate administrative expenses have not been allocated to segments due to the nature of the expense.

Millions of yen

Business segments

Amusement Coin-Operated Home Movies Elimination or
Facility Game Videogame Restaurant and Corporate

Operations Machines Software Operations Graphics Other Items Consolidated

2001:
Net sales to customers ¥74,686 ¥19,344 ¥30,220 ¥4,282 ¥8,687 ¥9,335 ¥ — ¥146,554
Intersegment sales 269 470 27 96 17 176 (1,055)* —

Total 74,955 19,814 30,247 4,378 8,704 9,511 (1,055) 146,554
Operating expenses 75,776 23,021 25,392 4,247 8,579 9,947 2,458 149,420

Operating income (821) (3,207) 4,855 131 125 (436) (3,513)** (2,866)

Identifiable assets 58,874 12,603 15,450 2,926 8,464 14,713 25,932 138,962
Depreciation and amor tisation 12,236 750 628 90 285 542 92 14,623
Capital expenditure 11,761 334 650 217 747 2,178 310 16,197

2002:
Net sales to customers ¥77,181 ¥18,291 ¥35,520 ¥4,229 ¥9,903 ¥7,012 ¥ — ¥152,136
Intersegment sales 256 288 1 93 13 164 (815)* —

Total 77,437 18,579 35,521 4,322 9,916 7,176 (815) 152,136
Operating expenses 75,350 17,085 27,771 4,387 10,066 8,550 2,794 146,003

Operating income 2,087 1,494 7,750 (65) (150) (1,374) (3,609)** 6,133

Identifiable assets 55,688 12,273 21,893 2,901 8,956 12,867 29,562 144,140
Depreciation and amor tisation 11,088 521 621 99 349 1,326 81 14,085
Capital expenditure 9,248 306 232 457 459 947 294 11,943

Thousands of dollars

Business segments

Amusement Coin-Operated Home Movies Elimination or
Facility Game Videogame Restaurant and Corporate

Operations Machines Software Operations Graphics Other Items Consolidated

2002:
Net sales to customers $634,451 $150,358 $291,985 $34,764 $81,406 $57,641 $ — $1,250,604
Intersegment sales 2,104 2,367 8 764 107 1,348 (6,700)* —

Total 636,556 152,725 291,993 35,528 81,513 58,989 (6,700) 1,250,604
Operating expenses 619,400 140,444 228,286 36,062 82,746 70,284 22,967 1,200,189

Operating income 17,156 12,281 63,707 (534) (1,233) (11,295) (29,667)** 50,415

Identifiable assets 457,772 100,888 179,967 23,847 73,621 105,771 243,009*** 1,184,875
Depreciation and amor tisation 91,147 4,283 5,105 814 2,869 10,900 666 115,783
Capital expenditure 76,021 2,515 1,907 3,757 3,773 7,785 2,417 98,175

* Elimination of intersegment sales.
** Includes unallocated administrative expenses of ¥3,807 million in 2001 and ¥3,838 million (U.S.$31,549 thousand) in 2002.
*** Assets included in Elimination or Corporate Items are primarily surplus money (cash and deposits) of the Company, long-term

investment fund (investment securities) and other assets in administration depar tment amounted to ¥32,486 million in 2001
and ¥35,800 million (U.S.$294,286 thousand) in 2002.
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(b) Geographical Segment Information
Summarized data for the Companies’ operations (sales within Japan and outside Japan) is as follows:

Millions of yen

Elimination or
Nor th Corporate

Japan America Europe Asia Items Consolidated

2001:
Net sales to customers ¥115,216 ¥25,728 ¥4,557 ¥1,053 ¥ — ¥146,554
Intersegment sales 1,950 78 43 — (2,071)* —

Total 117,166 25,806 4,600 1,053 (2,071) 146,554
Operating expenses 116,644 25,377 4,710 1,218 1,471 149,420

Operating income 522 429 (110) (165) (3,542)** (2,866)

Identifiable assets 89,205 17,824 5,238 667 26,028 138,962

2002:
Net sales to customers ¥111,015 ¥35,030 ¥5,026 ¥1,065 ¥ — ¥152,136
Intersegment sales 2,367 63 6 0 (2,436)* —

Total 113,382 35,093 5,032 1,065 (2,436) 152,136
Operating expenses 103,816 34,682 5,068 1,243 1,194 146,003

Operating income 9,566 411 (36) (178) (3,630)** 6,133

Identifiable assets 86,486 21,388 5,861 402 30,003 144,140

Thousands of dollars

Elimination or
Nor th Corporate

Japan America Europe Asia Items Consolidated

2002:
Net sales to customers $912,577 $287,957 $41,315 $8,755 $ — $1,250,604
Intersegment sales 19,458 519 49 0 (20,026)* —

Total 932,035 288,476 41,364 8,755 (20,026) 1,250,604
Operating expenses 853,400 285,097 41,660 10,218 9,814 1,200,189

Operating income 78,635 3,379 (296) (1,463) (29,840)** 50,415

Identifiable assets 710,941 175,816 48,179 3,305 246,634*** 1,184,875

* Elimination of intersegment sales.
** Includes unallocated administrative expenses of ¥3,807 million in 2001 and ¥3,838 million (U.S.$31,549 thousand) in 2002.
*** Assets included in Elimination or Corporate Items are primarily surplus money (cash and deposits) of the Company, long-term

investment fund (investment securities) and other assets in administration depar tment amounted to ¥32,486 million in 2001
and ¥35,800 million (U.S.$294,286 thousand) in 2002.

(c) Overseas Sales Information
Overseas sales of the Company and its subsidiaries for the years ended 31st March, 2001 and 2002 amounted to ¥40,239 million
(27.5% of consolidated net sales) and ¥48,853 million (U.S.$401,586 thousand) (32.1% of consolidated net sales), respectively.
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Independent Auditors’ Repor t

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Namco Limited

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Namco Limited and consolidated subsidiaries as of 31st

March, 2001 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows

for the years then ended, all expressed in yen. Our audits were made in accordance with auditing standards,

procedures and practices generally accepted and applied in Japan and, accordingly, included such tests of the

accounting records and such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements, expressed in yen, present fairly the consoli-

dated financial position of Namco Limited and consolidated subsidiaries at 31st March, 2001 and 2002, and the

consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting

principles and practices generally accepted in Japan, applied on a consistent basis.

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, Namco Limited and consolidated subsidiaries have

adopted the new accounting standards for retirement benefits and financial instruments and the revised accounting

standard for foreign currency transactions effective the year ended 31st March, 2001 in the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements.

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to the year ended

31st March, 2002 are presented solely for the convenience of the reader. Our audit also included the translation of

yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such translation has been made on the basis described

in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Tokyo, Japan

24th June, 2002

See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which explains the basis of preparing the consolidated financial statements

of Namco Limited under Japanese accounting principles and practices.
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Namco Enterprises Asia Ltd.
Shop p501, Podium 5,
World Trade Center,
280 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Tel: 852-2516-6610
Fax: 852-2561-3887

Shanghai Namco Ltd.
No. 258-23-3, Caoshi Road,
Shanghai, 200235, China
Tel: 86-21-5448-3248
Fax: 86-21-6451-9840

Monolith Software Inc.
12F, Nakameguro GT Tower,
2-1-1, Kamimeguro, Meguro-ku,
Tokyo
153-0051, Japan
Tel: 81-3-5721-7181
Fax: 81-3-5721-3652
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9-6-24, Akasaka, Minato-ku,
Tokyo 107-0052, Japan
Tel: 81-3-3404-2681
Fax: 81-3-3404-2881
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146-8655, Japan
Tel: 81-3-3756-1851
Fax: 81-3-5741-5033

St. Tropez Ltd.
3-10-10, Akasaka, Minato-ku,
Tokyo 107-0052, Japan
Tel: 81-3-5562-5400
Fax: 81-3-5741-5033
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3-28-12, Hongo, Bunkyo-ku,
Tokyo 113-0033, Japan
Tel: 81-3-5689-1002
Fax: 81-3-5689-1046

Yunokawa Kanko Hotel Co.,
Ltd.
2-4-20, Yunokawa-cho, Hakodate,
Hokkaido 042-0932, Japan
Tel: 81-138-57-1188
Fax: 81-138-57-4700

Namco Ecolotech Ltd.
2-9-22, Tamagawa, Ota-ku,
Tokyo 146-0095, Japan
Tel: 81-3-5482-7211
Fax: 81-3-5482-7216

(As of June 30, 2002)
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Tel: 81-3-3756-2311
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Namco Holding Corp.
2055 Junction Avenue, San
Jose, CA 95131, USA
Tel: 1-408-383-3900
Fax: 1-408-383-0128

Namco America Inc.
2055 Junction Avenue, San
Jose, CA 95131, USA
Tel: 1-408-383-3900
Fax: 1-408-383-0128

Namco Hometek Inc.
2055 Junction Avenue, San
Jose, CA 95131, USA
Tel: 1-408-922-0712
Fax: 1-408-321-0520

Namco Cybertainment Inc.
877 Supreme Drive,
Bensenville, IL 60106-1106,
USA
Tel: 1-630-238-2200
Fax: 1-630-238-0560

XS Entertainment Inc.
c/o: Namco Cybertainment
Inc.

Musicplayground Inc.
3 Riverside Drive, Andover, MA
01810, USA
Tel: 1-978-688-8800
Fax: 1-978-688-8824

Namco Europe Ltd.
Namco House, Acton Park
Estate, The Vale, London
W3 7QE, U.K.
Tel: 44-20-8324-6000
Fax: 44-181-324-6010

Namco Operations Europe Ltd.
Namco House, Acton Park
Estate, The Vale, London
W3 7QE, U.K.
Tel: 44-20-8324-6150
Fax: 44-181-324-6170

Namco Operations Spain S.L.
c/Buenavista, 3, 28220,
Majadahonda, Madrid, Spain
Tel: 34-91-634-29-61
Fax: 34-91-634-31-12

Namco Operations France S.A.
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93500 Pantin, France
Tel: 33-1-49910792
Fax: 33-1-49910840
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